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ABOUT US
The HIV/AIDS Legal Centre (HALC) is a not-
for-profit, specialist community legal centre, 
and the only one of its kind in Australia. We 
work to provide free and comprehensive 
legal assistance to people in NSW with HIV or 
Hepatitis related legal matters and have been 
offering these services for almost 30 years.

HALC also tackles severe stigma and discrimination associated with 
HIV and Hepatitis by undertaking community legal education and law 
reform activities in areas relating to HIV and Hepatitis. 

As a legal centre that provides full-scope legal services, we 
understand the value of not only providing clients with initial advice, 
but providing ongoing representation during their legal matters, 
including before courts and tribunals. HALC undertakes a holistic 
approach to assisting clients to ensure that their legal disputes are 
dealt with in totality, which may also include referring clients to a 
range of support services to mitigate the risk of future legal problems 
arising.
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OUR VISION, 
OUR MISSION, 
OUR VALUES
To see an end to the HIV crisis

To provide free and comprehensive legal assistance 
to anyone with an HIV and/or Hepatitis-related legal 
problem who falls under our funding agreements and to 
undertake community legal education and law reform 
activities in areas relating to HIV and Hepatitis

To provide high quality legal services whilst displaying an 
appreciation of, and sensitivity to, the special needs of 
people with an HIV and/or Hepatitis related legal matter
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PRINCIPAL 
SOLICITOR REPORT
Alexandra Stratigos, Principal Solicitor

The HIV/AIDS Legal Centre continues to progress our ambit to be 
a specialist in HIV related law. As an HIV/AIDS and viral hepatitis 
specialist legal centre, HALC is among just a few centres of a similar 
nature worldwide. We continue to test and progress the laws 
pertaining to the rights and responsibilities of people with HIV and 
viral hepatitis and ensure that people with HIV and viral hepatitis 
can participate in the community on an equal basis with others – a 
challenge that continues to exist in 2021. 

The 8th National HIV Strategy 2018-2022 continues to recognise an 
increased role for advancement of legal and human rights protections 
to reduce HIV prevalence and morbidity.  The identified human rights 
issues for HIV are discrimination and stigma, harm reduction, the 
criminalisation of HIV transmission and the intersection with that and 
public health laws, and principles of mutual responsibility. 

HALC is actively engaged in supporting the objectives of the National 
Strategy but not confined to those core human rights issues alone.  
HALC’s role also addresses the broader health and social impacts 
of HIV and its prevention among core communities at risk and we 
have identified a number of areas that are not listed in the National 
Strategy which continue to impact upon the daily lives of people with 
HIV and viral hepatitis.  

We routinely advise and represent people with HIV and those at most 
risk in respect of: discrimination, housing, debt, criminal law, mental 
health, social security, family law, end of life planning, insurance, 
employment, immigration and privacy matters among others.  
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This year HALC has continued to provide legal services in any matters 
with a nexus to HIV or viral hepatitis, and where the issues are relevant 
to the client being enabled to participate in the community in a 
meaningful and equal basis. The service approaches its mission in line 
with the approach promoted by the National Strategy to promote the 
health and wellbeing of all people with HIV. The approach encourages 
responsive, adaptive and evidence-based action. In this way HALC 
provides legal services relevant to the overarching goal and specific 
objectives of the National Strategy.  

HALC has operated now for almost 3 decades. The strength and 
progress of the centre is a testament to the staff, volunteers, 
management committee, and pro bono partners, both past and 
present who have increased the capacity of the centre significantly. 
Unfortunately, despite HALC’s long existence the need for the services 
we provide has not dwindled. 

This year the rights of and attitudes towards people with HIV and other 
blood borne viruses unfortunately took a significant step backwards; 
in various states across the country people can now be subject to 
mandatory HIV and hepatitis testing in circumstances where an 
emergency service worker is exposed to bodily fluids (including saliva). 
The introductions of these laws is contrary to medical and scientific 
advice and recommendations and is a decision made purely out of fear. 
Instead of providing emergency service workers with much needed 
support and education legislators are making these essential workers 
unnecessarily more fearful and anxious. The globe has spent the past 
18 months listening to key decision makers tell us that we should follow 
scientific and medical advice, yet here in Australia we are point blank 
refusing to do so on this issue and now the most vulnerable people in 
our society are going to be subject to ‘Mandatory Disease Testing’ – 
contrary to medical advice and contrary to human rights best practice 
globally. 

HIV/AIDS Legal Centre
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Despite the challenges that the pandemic has thrown as us this past 
year, due to the continued advancement of the centre and recognition 
of the valuable work that HALC does, we have continued to deliver 
primary legal advice and representation services, including in a range 
of different courts (local to high) and tribunals. We have also been 
able to engage in more law reform than previous years and currently 
have a solicitor dedicated to progressing these important issues. This 
year we have also presented at national and international conferences 
and continued to reach and educate more people with HIV through 
our community and continuing legal education that we delivered 
throughout the year, predominantly remotely via video conference.

One of the benefits of the pandemic is it has forced HALC (like many 
others) to adapt and change; we are now a paperless office and we 
are now more equipped than ever before to provide remote service 
delivery to the same high standards as we can provide locally and in 
person.  

HALC is the only funded HIV specialist legal centre in Australia. 
In addition to the services we provide to PLHIV and people with 
hepatitis in NSW, this year we were also able to continue to provide 
services to Queenslanders living with HIV through our partnership 
with Queensland Positive People which has now been operating for 3 
years.  

We continue to be contacted by prospective clients Australia-
wide, we also continue to be referred clients from all states and 
territories. Due to the scope of our funding being limited to providing 
services in NSW and QLD (under the QPP partnership agreement), 
disappointingly, we cannot assist everyone and many people with HIV 
related legal matters who live in other states go without. 

We hope to be able to increase funding in the future to reach those 
interstate clients and are proud of the work we have done this year to 
work towards our goal to deliver legal services nationwide.  
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Discrete Services Representation Services

89 Informations

78 Legal Tasks

572 Legal Advices

78 Referrals

A SNAPSHOT OF 
2020/21 

817
Total services

10 Dispute Resolution 
Services

89 Court  
& Tribunal 

Services

288 Other 
Services

387
Total services
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Legal Advice by Problem Type

Representation by Problem Type

54%  Immigration

79%  Immigration

4%  Wills & Estates

1%  Wills & Estates

5%  Consumer

3%  Consumer

10%  Other Civil Law Problem Type

6%  Other Civil Law Problem Type

4%  Employment

3%  Housing

1 %  Housing

10%  Criminal

5%  Criminal

6%  Discrimination

4%  Discrimination

2%  Health/Mental Health

2%  Domestic Violence

1%  Domestic Violence
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11%
of clients experienced 
family violence

68%
of clients were 
culturally or 
linguistically diverse

91%
of clients were 
experiencing financial 
disadvantage

3%
of clients were 
homeless or at risk of 
homelessness

OUR CLIENTS

Client Gender

Client Age

0 18 25 35 50 65

2

14

150

100

32

181

75% Male
23% Female

2% Other
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It is estimated that around half of all people living with HIV in Australia 
are now over 50. It is also estimated that approximately 13% of people 
living with HIV identify as female. HALC’s data shows divergences 
with the epidemiology of HIV in Australia with almost 23% of clients 
identifying as female and only 28% of clients over the age of 50. 

HALC also undertook an evaluation of our services over the past 30 
years. Looking at the demographics of HALC clients over this time, 
they have been predominantly male identifying, over the age of 18, 
with concentrations in the range of 25-54 years of age. Interestingly, 
HALC clients over time have increasingly been born overseas and have 
increasingly identified as heterosexual and female. 

These often marginalized and under serviced demographics face 
particular vulnerabilities. For example, if we consider the unique 
legal issues faced by females living with HIV, they are often made 
more complex because of factors such as domestic violence, societal 
pressures, and pregnancy.
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HUMANS OF HALC
HALC’s end of financial year fundraiser 
highlighted some of the stories of HALC’s 
clients, staff and community supporters and 
the impact that our work has had on them. 

Below are some of the stories that were shared throughout the 
campaign. We would like to thank everyone who shared their stories 
and to those who donated over the course of the year.

* Names have been changed for the protection of the individual’s privacy
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OUR ADVOCACY AND 
LAW REFORM WORK 
This year, HALC funded a solicitor to work on project, policy and law 
reform work to ensure we could engage in law reform activities in 
areas that directly affect people living with HIV without compromising 
the hard work of our casework solicitors. Throughout this year, HALC 
has had the opportunity to advocate for people living with HIV in a 
range of areas including public health law, criminal law and privacy 
law. We have also delivered a number of seminars, workshops and 
developed resources to continue educating stakeholders and the 
wider community about the legal issues facing people living with HIV.  
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Mandatory Disease Testing Bill 2020

This year the Standing Committee on Law and Justice provided its 
report on the Mandatory Disease Testing Bill 2020. Unfortunately, 
the report disregarded the widely accepted evidence that testing 
without consent is contrary to public health and is inconsistent with 
state, national and international policies and guidelines. The findings 
of the committee gave little weight to the medical evidence that was 
provided to them by a range of HIV-sector organisations and medical 
professionals in both their submissions and at the hearing. 

HALC continued to campaign against the bill with other HIV-
sector organisations, including ACON, Hepatitis NSW, Positive Life 
NSW, ASHM and the Australian Services Union over the year. This 
involved meetings with a range of parliamentarians and a formal 
campaign highlighting the real facts about the ‘risk’ of transmission. 
Unfortunately, the bill passed through both houses of parliament in 
June this year. While we are disappointed with this outcome, our work 
now moves to reviewing the application of the legislation and it’s 
impact on priority populations. 

Public Health Act – Statutory Review of section 62 and 79

In 2016, a statutory review of the Public Health Act was undertaken 
which recommended a range of amendments to better protect public 
health. This included changes to section 79 to remove the requirement 
on a person with a sexually transmitted infection (STI) from notifying 
their sexual partners. This year HALC and Positive Life NSW provided 
joint submissions into a review of sections 62 and 79 and whether they 
balance the interests and rights of individuals with the public interest.

HALC continues to strongly advocate for the removal of any penalties 
under section 79 and to replace the current section with a statement 
of principles, which acknowledges mutual responsibility of all persons 
to avoid transmitting or contracting an STI. 
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Education Legislation Amendment Parental Rights Bill 2020

In February this year HALC, the Inner City Legal Centre and 
Community Legal Centres NSW provided a join submission on the 
Education Legislation Amendment (Parental Rights) Bill 2020. The Bill 
would prohibit schools from teaching students that trans and gender 
diverse people exist and would allow parents to withdraw their child 
from a class which teaches them about LGTIQ+ topics such as health 
and human rights. The bill would also prohibit school counsellors from 
supporting trans or gender diverse students. HALC also presented at 
the Australasian HIV & AIDS Conference on the bill and its implications 
for data surveillance. 

The Bill includes a clause which closely resembles the infamous 
‘section 28’ of the UK Local Government Act introduced in the late 
1980s. The legislation had a disastrous impact on LGBTQI+ students 
as school-based support groups were shutdown and the teaching 
of LGBTQI+ sex education at the height of the HIV epidemic was 
blocked. HALC strongly believes that trans children deserve the same 
acknowledgment, respect and education as every other child and will 
continue to fight against the bill. 

Community Legal Education 

HALC continued to provide community legal education seminars 
to healthcare workers, universities and community organisations 
throughout the year. The seminars provide information on HIV and 
the law and the areas of law where a person’s HIV status can still 
interact with the justice system. This includes topics on public health 
laws, discrimination, insurance and migration. This year we presented 
to Multicultural HIV and Hepatitis Service, Albion Centre, Clinic 16, 
Thorne Harbour (ACT), the University of Sydney and Sydney Sexual 
Health Centre.  

HIV/AIDS Legal Centre
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Data Availability and Transparency Bill and Privacy Act Review

HALC recognises that a concern for people living with HIV and/
or hepatitis is their right to privacy, particularly when it comes to 
health information.  This year HALC provided submissions on a new 
federal bill, the Data Availability and Transparency Bill 2020. The 
bill establishes a scheme for the sharing of public sector data to 
accredited users. While our submissions acknowledged that some 
public data has the capability to strategically benefit the Australian 
public and improve a range of policy outcomes, we advocated for 
stronger protections for the sharing of individual data, including 
personal and sensitive information. This included: seeking assurances 
that the data would only be shared for the purpose it was originally 
collected for, and that informed consent would be obtained from the 
individual. 

In our submission on the review of the Privacy Act, HALC further 
advocated for stronger frameworks to identify when clients have 
provided organisations and government agencies meaningful consent. 
As an essential component in creating trust between consumers 
and entities, meaningful consent plays an important role in ensuring 
transparency and accountability. HALC believes that organisations 
can only obtain consent from individuals when they have provided 
unbundled, intelligible and plain language information on what is 
being consented to.
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Legal Needs Survey of People Living with HIV

This year, in partnership with UTS and AHSM, HALC began to develop a 
legal needs survey for people living with HIV and other communicable 
conditions. While public health scholarship demonstrates that unmet 
legal needs have a significant impact on health, little is known about 
the legal problems and needs of people living with HIV and other 
communicable conditions in Australia. Firsts steps were undertaken this 
year to develop a legal needs survey to collect the first Australian data 
on the legal problems, needs and access to justice for people living with 
communicable diseases in Australia. 

In developing the survey, we sough the expertise of Hepatitis NSW, 
Positive Life NSW, Hepatitis Queensland and Queensland Positive 
People (QPP). We are now pursuing opportunities to administer the 
survey nationwide. 

23rd International AIDS Conference

HALC received a scholarship to attend and present two posters at 
the 23rd International AIDS Conference this year. The first was on 
combatting stigma and discrimination towards people living with 
HIV through strategic litigation. The poster focused on the need 
for redress for clients who have been victims of HIV related stigma, 
discrimination and vilification, and the assistance that HALC has 
provided clients in this area over the past decade. 

The second contribution was on deportation proceedings against people 
convicted of criminal transmission of HIV in Australia. A significant 
portion of people convicted of HIV transmission in Australia are not 
Australian citizens and the poster focused on the disproportionate 
impact of these laws on marginalized communities. Due to this, people 
from culturally and linguistically diverse communities are at risk of facing 
‘double punishments’ as they receive criminal penalties and possibly face 
deportation. You can find the posters on our website.

HIV/AIDS Legal Centre
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COMBATTING STIGMA AND DISCRIMINATION 
TOWARDS PEOPLE WITH HIV THROUGH 
STRATEGIC LITIGATION
Alexandra Stratigos, Principal Solicitor
HIV/AIDS Legal Centre, Surry Hills, Australia

The number of new HIV diagnoses in Australia has 
remained relatively stable over the past decade. 
Currently the percentage of all people over the age of 
15 in Australia who are living with HIV is 0.14%.1 People 
living with HIV infection in Australia now have close 
to the same life expectancy as someone without HIV 
infection. Further, the corresponding increase in the 
proportion of people on treatment with a suppressed 
viral load has reduced the risk of onward transmission to 
zero. Despite these rapid developments in HIV testing, 
treatment and prevention, people with HIV continue 
to face stigma and discrimination. The HIV/AIDS Legal 
Centre (HALC) consistently has clients contacting 
the service seeking legal advice and redress due to 
being victims of HIV related stigma, discrimination and 
vilification. In the past decade, HALC has been involved 
in approximately 900 discrimination matters – this 
represents a significant number given the relatively low 
number of people living with HIV in the country.

Australia’s Disability Discrimination Act (Commonwealth) 
1992 contains provisions that prohibit discrimination 
against people with HIV; there is also similar legislation 
in most states. HALC utilizes these laws to engage in 
strategic litigation, including against government bodies, 
private employers, medical/dental and personal service 
providers, educational institutions and insurers. The 
goal of the litigation is to not only achieve a desirable 
outcome for the individual client but to also affect 
systemic change.

HOW DOES HALC COMMENCE STRATEGIC LITIGATION 
TO ATTACK STIGMA AND DISCRIMINATION TOWARDS 
PLHIV? 

People with HIV contact HALC seeking assistance in 
discrimination proceedings. Proceedings are commenced 
in the appropriate jurisdiction and then progressed 
through the relevant court or tribunal as necessary. HALC 
ensures that HIV partner organisations are aware of the 
services HALC provides to PLHIV to ensure that they 
refer clients/patients who have faced discrimination 
or vilification. Remedies sought include compensation 
for economic and non-economic loss, amendments to 
policies or procedures, a commitment to education and 
training around issues affecting people with HIV and, 
if relevant, the person’s return to employment or the 
provision of the service originally requested.

IN WHAT CIRCUMSTANCES HAVE BEEN 
DISCRIMINATED AGAINST? 

HALC has represented clients in hundreds of cases, 
those of note include cases involving: the removal of a 

discriminatory policy preventing health care workers with 
HIV from performing exposure prone procedures; the 
removal of a discriminatory policy preventing the post 
mortem reconstruction of the body of a person with HIV 
following autopsy; lifting of restrictions on people with 
HIV working in the Defence Force; and refusal of certain 
types of insurance to people with HIV.

Case studies reveal that perpetrators of discrimination 
directed at people with HIV often felt justified in their actions 
and attempted to rely, usually with little basis, upon other 
legislation such work place health and safety laws, public 
health laws and, in the case of insurers and the Defence 
Force, provisions under the Disability Discrimination Act 
which allow discrimination in certain circumstances.

A SNAPSHOT OF THE REASONS PERPETRATORS OF 
DISCRIMINATION GIVE FOR THEIR ACTIONS: 

A woman who recently gave birth had her HIV status 
publicly disclosed on a public maternity ward and 
further, nurses wore mask, gloves and goggles prior to 
weighing and changing the baby’s nappy out of fear of 
the baby being HIV positive and perceived risk to the 
nurses. 

A woman was denied access to affordable IVF services 
and was told: 

“sorry we can’t treat you as we don’t treat patients 
with HIV here…. a HIV positive patient falls outside the 
low-cost standardised treatment model because of the 
requirement for specialised, individualised care”. 

No specialised treatment was in fact required, only the 
standard precautions that must be adhered to when 
treating any patient. The client was turned away from 
two fertility clinics for this reason. 

A patient denied access to a cosmetic medical 
procedure was told: 

“the doctor is apprehensive about treating HIV positive 
patients …. the risk is too high”. 

A nurse with HIV was refused employment as their HIV 
status would allegedly: 

“limit the scope of work you could perform”.

At law there was no obligation on this nurse to have 
disclosed their HIV status and in any case, they could 
perform all duties required despite their HIV status. 

A hospitality worker was told that their HIV status 
“posed a risk to yourself and others”.

Multiple clients were denied insurance cover including 
death cover and income protection due to the outdated 

actuarial statistical data relied upon by insurers to 
lawfully discriminate. Legislation allows insurers to 
lawfully discriminate based on actuarial statistical data 
combined with a claim of unjustifiable hardship.2

RESOLUTIONS 

The discrimination against these individuals has been 
addressed through robust and strategic litigation. Many 
cases settle prior to a final hearing before a Court and 
therefore opportunities for setting precedents through 
judgements are removed. It is therefore important to 
provide extensive and robust representation to all who have 
faced discrimination and ensure that partner organisations 
are aware of HALC’s services so that opportunities to 
address systemic problems are not missed. 

In the case of employers and many service providers, 
particularly those for medical services, final resolutions 
have included financial compensation for non-economic 
loss such as pain, suffering, distress and humiliation, and 
economic loss, particularly in employment matters.

Resolutions reached through mediation also often 
include a commitment to ongoing education and training 
to ensure that all members of the discriminating service/
employer are aware of their duty not to discriminate, 
duties around standard precautions and the lack of risk 
of transmission of HIV that a person with HIV poses in an 
everyday setting. 

In the case of insurance, unfortunately from a strategic 
litigation perspective, many insurers have settled 
matters by offering to provide appropriate cover to the 
individual and thus litigation to dispute the data relied 
upon has not yet been challenged in a Court as the 
individual no longer needed to continue with the case. 
This is a challenge with any litigation as in Australia 
such actions in discrimination require a complainant to 
agitate the proceedings. 

WHERE TO FROM HERE? 

The type and volume of ongoing complaints received 
demonstrates that ignorance around HIV remains 
prevalent in the Australian community. It is clear 
that ongoing legal representation in discrimination 
proceedings for people with HIV is necessary to restore 
dignity and respect to individuals who have been 
wronged and also to effect systemic change so that 
people with HIV can participate in the community on an 
equal basis with others.
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1 https://data.kirby.unsw.edu.au/hiv
2 Section 46 of the Disability Discrimination Act 1992a

The HIV/AIDS Legal Centre Inc (HALC) is a specialist 
legal centre in Sydney, Australia that provides a free 
legal service for people with HIV related legal matters.
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CRIME AND PUNISHMENTS: DEPORTATION 
PROCEEDINGS AGAINST PEOPLE CONVICTED 
OF CRIMINAL TRANSMISSION OF HIV
Alexandra Stratigos, Principal Solicitor
HIV/AIDS Legal Centre, Surry Hills, Australia

BACKGROUND: A significant portion of people 
convicted of HIV transmission in Australia are not 
Australian citizens. Due to not holding citizenship, 
those convicted of serious criminal offences (being 
a legally defined term which includes facing a prison 
term of 12 months or more), are at risk of having their 
visas cancelled and being removed from Australia. 
The HIV/AIDS Legal Centre (HALC) has represented 
a number of these clients in their criminal matters as 
well as in their subsequent immigration proceedings 
to prevent their removal from Australia.

WHEN IS PERSON CONVICTED OF CRIMINAL 
TRANSMISSION OF HIV AT RISK OF THEIR VISA 
BEING CANCELLED? 

Where a person is not an Australian citizen and 
commits a criminal offence, they are at risk of 
detention and removal from Australia. 

Section 501 of the Migration Act 1958 provides that 
immigration can cancel or refuse a visa where a 
person does not pass the character test for the visa 
they hold. Where a person is sentenced to prison for 
12 months or more (including where the sentence 
is suspended), they are deemed to have failed the 
character test. 

Australian criminal laws across all states and 
territories have criminal penalties for doing or 
inflicting grievous bodily harm to another. This 
includes where a person recklessly, negligently or 
intentionally transmits HIV to another person. The 
maximum penalty for intentional transmission of 
HIV is life imprisonment. All successfully prosecuted 
cases in Australia involving charges for reckless, 
negligent or intentional transmission of HIV have 
resulted in a prison term or suspended sentence of 
at least 3 years. This means that where a person is 
not an Australian citizen and they are convicted of 
recklessly, negligently or intentionally transmitting 
HIV to another person, then they will fail the 
character test for their visa (or visa application) and 
immigration will take steps to cancel or refuse their 
visa on character grounds. 

HOW HAS THE LAW BEEN APPLIED?

In two recent case studies of people with HIV 
convicted of HIV transmission, following the 
completion of their custodial sentence, steps were 
then taken to cancel their visas and they were 
placed in immigration detention. Both clients 
had their visas cancelled and had to take steps to 
appeal the decisions. The primary reason for the 

cancellation was the perception of ongoing risk to 
the Australian community. 

In the case of Zaburoni v Minister for Immigration 
and Border Protection, the Minister for Immigration 
personally made the decision to cancel Mr 
Zaburoni’s visa. The act of the Minister personally 
intervening further limited Mr Zaburoni’s appeals 
options and removed his ability to seek a merits 
review of the decision to an administrative tribunal. 
The Minister found that: 

“although there is a low risk of Mr Zaburoni  placing 
others at risk of contracting HIV, he cannot be 
considered a zero risk because previous behaviour is 
a predictor of future behaviour.

I therefore find that there is an ongoing risk that Mr 
Zaburoni will re-offend, albeit a low risk.

I find that the Australian community could be 
exposed to great harm should Mr Zaburoni re-
offend in a similar fashion. I could not rule out the 
possibility of further offending by Mr Zaburoni. 
The Australian community should not tolerate any 
further risk of harm.

In reaching my decision I concluded that Mr 
Zaburoni represents an unacceptable risk of harm 
to the Australian community and that the protection 
of the Australian community outweighed any 
countervailing considerations...”1

In the case of Palmer and Minister for Immigration, 
Citizenship, Migrant Services and Multicultural 
Affairs the Minister for Immigration asserted before 
the tribunal on merits review that “even though the 
risk is low, the nature of the offence and the nature 
of the harm should similar offences be committed 
are such that no risk should be tolerated.”2

The assertions and findings of the immigration 
department, were unfounded given the 
circumstances of the clients: 

• Neither client had been convicted of intentionally 
transmitting HIV to their sexual partner. 

• Both clients were not on treatment at the time of 
the commission of the offence. 

• Both had claimed that they had struggled to deal 
with their diagnosis which had affected their 
ability to be open and honest about their HIV 
status to their sexual partner. 

• Both clients were from culturally and linguistically 
diverse backgrounds making them particularly 
vulnerable and placing them at increased risk of 
stigma and discrimination in the community.

• Following the criminal proceedings and their 
subsequent criminal sentencing they had both 
better come to terms with their HIV diagnosis and 
were aware of the importance of following the 
directions of their HIV doctor and consistently 
taking treatment; not only for their own health but 
for that of their sexual partners. 

• The treating doctors of both clients had given 
evidence that they were confident that the client 
knew the importance of taking treatment and were 
committed to doing so. 

• At the time of the immigration decision both 
clients were on treatment and had an undetectable 
viral load and were therefore effectively incapable 
of reoffending in a similar way unless they decided 
to cease treatment. 

One of these clients exhausted all their appeal 
options and has been deported from Australia 
and the other was successful in their appeal to the 
Administrative Appeals Tribunal.

WHAT HAVE WE LEARNT FROM THESE CASES?

There are often many and varied reasons for HIV 
non-disclosure and from HALC’s experiences, 
following criminal and public health interventions it 
is unlikely that a person with HIV would continue to 
place their sexual partners at risk of contracting HIV. 
Decision makers in primary migration proceedings 
appear to be unwilling to accept that a person with 
HIV would no longer place their sexual partner 
at risk of HIV transmission as the immigration 
department asserts that they there remains a risk to 
the community if a person has previously offended. 

Criminal transmission laws often disproportionately 
affect already marginalised communities, including 
people from culturally and linguistically diverse 
communities, and therefore places them at greater risk 
of facing this ‘double’ punishment of criminal penalties 
plus possible deportation if they are not citizens. 

These cases demonstrate the need for ongoing 
advocacy and law reform in the removal of offences 
for HIV non-disclosure, exposure and transmission, 
except where actual intent can be established 
to a criminal law standard. The cases also 
demonstrate the ongoing need for continued robust 
representation of those, often vulnerable migrants, 
who are facing visa cancellation. 

1  Zaburoni v Minister for Immigration and Border Protection [2017] FCA 654
2  Palmer and Mainister for Immigration, Citizenship, Migrant Services and 

Multicultural Affairs (Migration) [2020] AATA 88 (30 January 2020
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THE PRIORITY 
POPULATION LEFT 
BEHIND  
Vikas Parwani, Senior Solicitor

Over this year, a common charge faced by our clients before the New 
South Wales Local Courts was for possession of small amounts of 
drugs. While on its surface, this offence seems minor, under the Drug 
Misuse and Trafficking Act 1985 (NSW), carrying as little as 1 tablet of 
the street drug, ecstasy or MDMA carries a maximum penalty of 2 years 
in prison or up to $11,000 in fines. While the maximum penalty for a 
small quantity of drugs is rarely imposed, the effect that encountering 
the justice system and/or having a conviction recorded for people living 
with HIV (PLHIV) and/or viral hepatitis (PLVH) can be significant. 

The Special Commission of Inquiry (the Inquiry) into crystal 
methamphetamine and other amphetamine-type stimulants (ATS) was 
established by the NSW Government in November 2018 and noted that:

“Contact with the criminal justice system, including having a criminal 
conviction for simple possession, is directly associated with adverse 
impacts on employment, earning prospects, access to housing, 
access to treatment, relationships and wellbeing. The criminalisation 
of simple possession is a powerful source of stigma, which has a 
serious impact on the physical and mental health of people who use 
drugs, as well as their willingness to seek help. 38. The criminalisation 
of simple possession has a disproportionate impact on Aboriginal 
people, including through the high prevalence of secondary offending 
associated with the imposition of fines for low-level drug offences.”1 

1  Report of the Special Commission of Inquiry into crystal methamphetamine and other 
amphetamine-type stimulants, January 2020, Volume 1 of 4, Executive Summary 
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Despite the Inquiry’s recommendations that possession of drugs for 
personal use be decriminalised and that drug use be treated as a 
public health issue than a criminal law one, the NSW government has 
not accepted any of the Inquiry’s recommendations to date. 

Following controversy about recreational drug use related deaths at 
music festivals in January 2019, NSW Police were given the power and 
discretion to issue penalty notices for possession of small quantities 
of a drug. Prior to this, a person charged with the offence had to 
appear in court. The introduction of the penalty notice for the offence 
was designed to prevent first-time offenders from having to attend 
court. However, from our experience, the police seem to rarely use 
this power and insist on dragging people through the Courts for the 
possession of small quantities of drugs. 

People who use drugs are identified as a priority population in both 
Commonwealth and NSW HIV strategies. The United Nations has noted 
that criminalisation of key at-risk populations can have a significant 
impact on treatment, intake and adherence for PLHIV and PLVH. 

To minimise the harm which drug criminalisation causes PLHIV and 
PLVH, HALC frequently represents clients before the Local Courts 
where we make submissions to mitigate the sentence that the Court 
might be considering imposing. Despite the offence having been 
proven, HALC has had significant success in having no convictions 
recorded for these matters where the Court either dismisses them 
entirely or imposes a conditional release order where the accused is 
required to have a period of good behavior. 

It has been widely reported that the use of illicit drugs increased 
all over the country through the Covid-19 pandemic. It is therefore 
unsurprising that in this financial year approximately one third of 
our criminal law services were provided to people who had charges 
before the Courts for possession of small quantities of drugs.

Until such time as significant reforms are made to the State’s drug laws 
and policy, HALC will continue to represent clients in drug possession 
matters to mitigate the harms associated with drug criminalisation. 
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CHANGE IN TREND 
IN PROTECTION 
VISA APPLICATIONS 
DURING THE 
COVID-19 PANDEMIC  
Danielle Munro, Solicitor

We saw an increase in people seeking assistance in lodging a 
Protection Visa application when the Covid-19 pandemic started 
in Australia and this trend has continued.  We believe it is partly 
contributable to the border closures, additional fears of returning 
home during the pandemic and the economic impacts within 
Australia preventing other visa options. 

People living with HIV have limited permanent visa options due 
to the health criteria. The primary skilled migration pathway for 
people with HIV is the employer sponsored visa pathway, however, 
during Covid-19 pandemic many employers have been less willing to 
sponsor applicants or else their businesses has closed because of the 
economic impacts of Covid-19. 

The employer sponsored visa pathway available requires an applicant 
to work for their sponsoring employer on a temporary employer 
sponsored visa for three years before being eligible to apply for the 
permanent employer sponsored visa. A business closure will prevent 
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the visa applicant applying for the permanent employer sponsor visa 
that they have been working towards for many years. The economic 
disruptions caused by the Covid-19 pandemic have left many PLHIV 
work visa holders without options for skilled permanent residency. 

We have assisted clients in lodging Protection Visas who are highly 
educated and skilled in occupations where they would normally 
otherwise have been able to obtain a sponsor for an employer 
sponsored visa. 

We now have over 80 clients with ongoing applications for protection 
visas waiting for the Department of Home Affairs to process their 
applications. These clients have genuine fears of returning to their 
home country due to their HIV status and/or sexuality, however many 
were able to pursue alternative visa options. This can be preferable 
for many clients because of the uncertainty surrounding a Protection 
Visa decision and the length of time the Department takes to process 
Protection Visa applications. 

The pandemic has only added to many client’s fears of returning to 
their home country as many developing countries are struggling to 
control the pandemic and health care systems are unable to cope. 
The struggling health care systems are only placing people living with 
HIV at greater risk of not being able to access sufficient health care.

Protection Visa Applicants by 
Region

Gender of Protection Visa 
Applicants

70%   
Cisgender male

12%   
Transgender and/
or gender diverse

19%   
Cisgender female

Southern Asia

South-East Asia

Oceania

East Asia

South America

Eastern Africa

Southern Africa

Western Africa

10

7

42

7

7

8

4

26
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We have also noticed an increase in the number of clients who are 
approaching our centre after their initial application for a Protection 
Visa was refused by the Department of Home Affairs. These clients 
sought our assistance in their application to the Administrative 
Appeals Tribunal (AAT) for a review of their decision. The majority 
of these clients did not have legal representation while their 
applications were before the Department and came to us as they 
could not obtain free representation for their matter before the AAT 
elsewhere.

We currently have 29 clients waiting for a hearing at the AAT and 
40% of these clients came to us after their Protection Visa was 
refused by the Department. 

The consequences of having a Protection Visa refusal are significant 
due to the bar on applying for future visas to Australia, and with 
so few other community legal centres willing to take on clients at 
the AAT, the number of clients we represent for Protection Visa 
applications at the AAT is increasing. 

We have seen first-hand the consequences the pandemic has had on 
temporary visa holders in Australia who were pursuing permanent 
visas and the additional stress the pandemic has caused to visa 
applicants. HALC will continue to assist people in the long process 
of applying for a Protection Visa or other pathways to permanent 
residency in Australia.
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ENDING THE 
CRIMINALISATION OF 
HIV TRANSMISSION 
AND DISCRIMINATION 
AGAINST PEOPLE 
LIVING WITH HIV 
Rhys Evans, Solicitor

As published in The Law Reform Bulletin (CLCNSW)

HALC is dedicated to creating an enabling legal environment for 
people living with HIV and hepatitis. Our law reform work tackles 
discriminatory legislation, policy and practices by service providers 
and government agencies to empower people living with HIV to 
engage in every aspect of life. Due to the stigma often attached to 
a HIV diagnosis, our law reform aims to remove requirements for 
unnecessary disclosure and to tackle stigma and discrimination, both 
lawful and unlawful that may occur when disclosure is deemed to be 
required. 
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Ending the criminalisation of HIV transmission in 
Australia 

The criminalisation of HIV transmission in all Australian jurisdictions 
is a barrier to removing the stigma attached to the condition and 
to pursuing public health goals. Criminalisation of HIV transmission 
disproportionately affects certain groups of people living with 
HIV including women, and culturally and linguistically diverse 
communities. It also deters people from testing  and from receiving 
treatment - both of which are vital to improving health outcomes and 
decreasing the risk of further transmission. 

Over the past 30 years, HIV-specific criminal laws have been 
removed from every Australian jurisdiction, with Victoria repealing 
its last HIV-specific law in 2015. Jurisdictions now pursue matters 
of HIV transmission as assault-based offences which can occur 
intentionally, recklessly, negligently, or on an unlawful basis leading 
to ‘grievous bodily harm’ or ‘serious injury’.2 Scientific and medical 
developments in HIV care and prevention continue to reshape how 
the medical community treat HIV and prevent transmission, including 
pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP) and treatment as prevention 
(TasP). These medical developments and other improvements in HIV 
treatment and care need to be recognised in criminal prosecutions by 
acknowledging that today, HIV is a manageable health condition and 
people living with HIV on treatment with an undetectable viral load 
have no risk of transmitting HIV.

2  See Zabouroni v The Queen (2016) 256 CLR 482, Aubrey v The Queen (2017) 260 CLR 305 and 
Neal v The Queen (2011) 32 VR 454 as some examples.

3  s79.
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Challenging stigma in public health legislation and 
insurance

Outside specific criminal legislation, public health legislation also 
continues to stigmatise HIV. While each jurisdiction generally requires 
people living with HIV to take ‘reasonable precautions’ against 
transmitting HIV, certain jurisdictions carry a penalty for non-
compliance, including New South Wales. HALC continues to advocate 
for the replacement of penalties under the Public Health Act 2010 
(NSW)3 with a statement of principles, which acknowledges mutual 
responsibility of all persons to avoid transmitting or contracting 
sexually transmitted infections. HALC believes that the responsibility 
to reduce the risk of transmission lies with both people who have 
an infectious disease and those at risk of contracting an infectious 
disease. This is not currently reflected within the Act.

Strategic litigation also has the power to push law and policy reform 
agendas. Through legal challenges, we’ve achieved significant change 
in two long-standing discriminatory policies: the reconstruction of 
HIV positive bodies after autopsy; and prohibitions on health care 
workers living with HIV performing certain duties. HALC continues 
our strategic litigation work to challenge areas of law that are exempt 
under the Disability Discrimination Act 1992 (Cth), including migration, 
insurance, and employment in the defence force.4

Special provisions under the Disability Discrimination Act also 
allow some service providers to discriminate lawfully.5 Insurers 
can discriminate against people living with HIV and other health 
conditions where the discrimination is based upon actuarial or 
statistical data on which it is reasonable for them to rely. We pursue 
strategic litigation to challenge the data insurers rely upon, as HIV 
treatment continues to develop and improve the health outcomes for 
people living with HIV.

4 X v Commonwealth [1999] HCA 63

5 Disability Discrimination Act 1992 (Cth) s 46
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Removing barriers faced by migrants living with HIV

There are very limited visa options available for people living with HIV 
and people with other health conditions, as the Migration Act 1958 (Cth) 
is exempt under the Disability Discrimination Act 1992 (Cth). As a result, 
people living with HIV are often found to fail the health criteria when 
applying for a visa, and there are limited visa subclasses with provision 
for what is known as a ‘health waiver’. The health waiver process requires 
people living with HIV and other health conditions to justify their worth 
to the Australian Community, beyond what is required of other migrants. 
HALC continues to challenge this discriminatory legislation and the 
policies of the Department of Home Affairs.

Our work in this area includes challenging the costings received from 
the Medical Officer of the Commonwealth to ensure department 
policies are in line with current medical developments . HALC is also 
actively advocating for more visa subclasses to have provision for a 
health waiver, and alternatively, for the removal of the health criteria 
(except for conditions considered to be a threat to public health - 
which HIV is not).

Our vision for justice

While many protections are in place for people living with HIV and 
other health conditions, discriminatory policies and legislation remain 
in force. These impact the social and physical wellbeing of people 
living with HIV and at-risk populations, as well as their ability to 
access testing and treatment. At HALC, we work to break down these 
barriers to provide equal opportunities to people living with HIV 
through an enabling legal environment. 
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DOMESTIC VIOLENCE 
AND IMMIGRATION  
Niamh Joyce, Solicitor

In the 20/21 financial year, HALC represented 
clients with complex domestic violence and 
immigration matters. We acted for clients who 
were victims of domestic violence and clients 
who were identified by police and the Courts 
as the perpetrator of domestic violence. 

This work involved advising clients seeking Apprehended Domestic 
Violence Orders (ADVO), and also representing clients defending an 
ADVO and related charges. 

In many cases, we advised and represented clients in both an ADVO 
matter and their immigration matters.  

Many visa types can create imbalances of power – such as between 
visa-applicant and their sponsoring employer, visa-applicant and 
their sponsoring spouse or partner, skilled visa applicant and their 
dependent family members. 

Another imbalance of power arises from the greater consequences for 
visa applicants if they are charged with a domestic violence offence 
or have an ADVO put in place against them. The strict character 
provisions set by Immigration allow for the refusal and cancellation 
of visas based on alleged domestic violence offences or conduct. For 
visa-holders who are unfamiliar with Australia’s ADVO system, they 
can be a greater risk of further victimisation, manipulation, or injustice. 

HIV/AIDS Legal Centre
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One case study includes the matter of Mohammed*. Mohammed 
applied for a Partner visa over four years ago, with his Australian 
resident partner. Both Mohammed and his now-Australian boyfriend 
originate in a country with high stigma and persecution against 
people living with HIV (PLHIV) and the LGBTQ community. 

While waiting for an outcome on his partner visa application, 
Mohammed’s partner perpetrated coercive control and family or 
domestic violence in the relationship, including isolating Mohammed 
from friends in Australia. His partner suffered from serious mental 
health concerns, including suicidality. This motivated Mohammed 
to remain in the relationship as he was concerned for his partners 
safety. Mohammed’s own precarious visa status, the four years of 
waiting, and the additional hurdles visa applicants with HIV face also 
motivated him to remain in the relationship.

For any victim of domestic violence, the decision to end a 
relationship can be extremely fraught. Mohammed required extensive 
assistance from a social worker, psychologist, police and legal 
support in making the decision to end the relationship. 

In some circumstances, when a person applies for a Partner visa 
and they suffer domestic violence during the relationship and the 
relationship ends before the visa grant, there is an avenue for the 
visa to still be granted. To be eligible, Mohammed must provide very 
specific types of evidence of domestic violence. 

This is not the case for many other types of visas. Visa applicants 
who are a dependant on their parent’s or spouse’s visa application 
(e.g. skilled visas), who are subject to domestic violence and then end 
the relationship, are not able to be granted most visas in the skilled 
visa pathway as a family member. 
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A case study includes Amy* who was a dependent on her husband’s 
skilled permanent residency application. When Amy’s husband 
perpetrated coercive control and domestic violence, Amy hoped to end 
the relationship but due to her circumstances felt that she couldn’t. 

As there were no domestic violence provisions for Amy’s visa, 
ending the relationship would leave her with no pathway to 
permanent residency in Australia. If Amy sought an ADVO to 
protect herself, but remained in the relationship, the ADVO would 
be used against her husband (and her own) visa application as 
evidence that her husband was of bad character, and the visa could 
be refused for the whole family. 

The other major way in which Immigration and domestic violence 
matters intersect is the additional complications faced by defendants 
who are not citizens. 

Committing a domestic violence offence or having an ADVO against 
you can lead to visa refusal or visa cancellation. This includes all non-
citizens, such as permanent residents, many New Zealanders (many 
of whom have spent decades in Australia), and refugee or asylum 
seeker type visa holders. 

This places non-citizens at higher jeopardy when defending domestic 
violence matters. Current case law in NSW does not require the court 
to consider the impact on visa status when sentencing.

In some cases, law enforcement identifies the perpetrator or the 
‘main’ perpetrator of domestic violence incorrectly. 
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In another case study HALC represented Ryan* in a domestic 
violence matter. Ryan’s medical and mental health team clearly 
identified him as the primary victim of domestic violence and 
coercive control in the relationship. This didn’t prevent his boyfriend 
from reporting Ryan for assault to the Police. Ryan reported immense 
difficulty understanding what was going on both as a person who 
speaks English as a second language, and as a person unfamiliar with 
the Australian legal and ADVO system.

A recorded conviction or an ADVO will seriously endanger Ryan’s 
visa status and his ability to seek permanent residency. As a person 
living with HIV, Ryan is already limited to a smaller range of visa 
pathways. 

Ultimately, while Immigration fails to provide safety and flexibility for 
visa-holders who are subject to domestic violence, many people are 
put at risk of continuing victimisation.

For visa-holders who are particularly vulnerable and have limited 
other visa options – because they are asylum seekers, because they 
lack skills and employment, and/or because they are living with HIV, 
often leaving situations of domestic violence and coercive control 
remain difficult.

*names changed for the privacy of those involved.
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HALC/QPP 
SERVICE DELIVERY 
PARTNERSHIP  
Adelene Chuah, Solcitor

This year, HALC has continued its successful partnership with 
Queensland Positive People (QPP). QPP fund a HALC solicitor for 2 
days a week to provide legal services to clients living in Queensland. 
Clients are referred to HALC by QPP’s Stigma and Discrimination Case 
Manager when legal issues impact engagement with HIV treatment 
and care, or where there are compelling, HIV-related factors. Our 
service delivery partnership with QPP means that people outside of 
NSW, who would otherwise be ineligible for our services, are able to 
benefit from advice and representation in a range of complex matters, 
even if they do not have the financial capacity to cover the cost of a 
private lawyer. 
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Several of our QPP-referred clients have required advice and 
representation in health waivers for Partner Visa applications. The 
health waiver process is complex and time-sensitive. This can be a 
particularly stressful time for visa applicants who are confronted 
by discriminatory migration policies that could result in their forced 
separation from their Australian family unit if they have to return to 
their country of origin. In all Partner Visa applications, a decision by 
a Delegate for the Minister not to grant a health waiver would have 
immense practical and psychological impacts on all members of the 
affected family unit. This was especially true for one of our health 
waivers lodged this year, where the Australian partner/sponsor is 
also a Queensland resident living with HIV, who had previously been 
granted refugee status and had no option to relocate with their 
partner in the event of a negative decision. This family also has a 
young Australian child, and are currently awaiting a decision.

HALC is passionate about assisting clients with health waiver cases 
because we believe that a person’s options for permanent residency 
in Australia should not be limited by their HIV status. Many people 
living with HIV also face the risk of severe stigma and discrimination 
and adverse health outcomes if they have to leave Australia, not only 
due to the receiving country’s healthcare standards, but because the 
visa applicant may be of a sexual orientation or gender identity that 
puts them at risk of persecution in their country of origin. The health 
waiver applications lodged in this 6 month period for clients referred 
by QPP were for applicants from Nigeria, Malaysia, the Philippines and 
Vietnam. 

This year, HALC’s partnership with QPP has also enabled us to assist 
Protection Visa applicants from countries including Brazil, China, 
Colombia, Indonesia, Nigeria and Papua New Guinea. Applying for 
protection, and applying for work rights in cases where the client was 
without a visa, or ‘unlawful’ prior to their referral to HALC, means that 
these members of our community, who are sometimes particularly 
vulnerable, become eligible for Medicare.
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HALC is also assisting in a discrimination complaint against a 
healthcare provider lodged at the Queensland Human Rights 
Commission, which is currently awaiting conciliation conference.

HALC completed detailed legal submissions addressing the Ministerial 
Directions relating to revocation of mandatory visa cancellation on 
character grounds. HALC’s assistance maximises the prospects of 
success for this individual, whose family (an Australian partner and 2 
minor children) face the possibility of being forcibly separated from 
their partner and parent indefinitely. 

In all of these cases, engaging a private migration agent or solicitor 
is not a viable option for the clients experiencing financial hardship, 
due to the substantial number of hours of work required to 
compile information and draft submissions. The HALC/QPP Service 
Delivery Partnership allows us to provide individuals and families in 
Queensland with specialist legal services, free of charge.

HIV/AIDS Legal Centre
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OUR VOLUNTEERS  
HALC is extremely grateful to have 
dedicated and enthusiastic volunteers who 
are excited to make a real impact through 
hands on, client-facing legal work 

Our volunteer program gives Practical Legal Training students and 
volunteer solicitors a fantastic opportunity to develop their skills as 
legal professionals. Under the supervision of HALC solicitors, our 
volunteers are provided the opportunity to interview clients, draft 
and deliver legal advice, attend hearings and work directly with the 
clients as their matter progresses.
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After my induction, I recall being assigned a task to draft a letter 
of advice for a client and got a preview of the active case load. I 
was amazed at the amount of work the team at HALC undertook 
and their ability to assist so many clients. Since that day I have had 
the opportunity to draft submissions, letters of advice, statutory 
declarations, letters of demand and so much more. 

As a volunteer I was trained to directly communicate with clients and 
conduct interviews which gave me an opportunity to learn the impact 
their legal matters were having on their lives. Volunteers are also 
given the responsibility to work on case files under the supervision 
of a solicitor. Being able to assist in matters from their beginning was 
especially exciting for me when I became a volunteer solicitor. 

During my time at HALC I was able to represent clients in the Downing 
Centre Local Courts. I developed strong advocacy skills and became 
accustomed to running matters in court. This kind of experience is 
invaluable and I am grateful to have been able to assist vulnerable 
members of our community while gaining practical legal experience. 

The positive team environment at HALC gave me the opportunity 
to learn from both solicitors and volunteers equally. Together we 
were able to strategise on matters and engage in problem solving to 
best assist our clients. This also gave me the opportunity to develop 
important connections and I was able to network with a range of 
community organisations. 

The connections and experience I obtained from HALC allowed me to 
kick start my legal career with a solid foundation.”

Sebongile Mbele, one of our 
volunteers share their experiences 
at HALC in their testimonial.

“I don’t think I understood the term ‘hit 
the ground running’ until my very first day 
at HALC. 
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Amal Mohamed

Aaron Cogle

Isabella Orlic

Mohamed Afifi

Shamila Ebadi

Yuyan Lin

Leon Louie

Linda Shi
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Paul Taylor

Donya Safaeimonesh

Adam Liskowski
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Samra Karim

Sebongile Mbele

Kelly Yoon

Miranda Smith

Judith Zhu

Mindy Pang

HALC Volunteers 2019/20

We would like to take this opportunity to thank all the HALC 
volunteers that worked with HALC this year.
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Committee Members’ Report 
HIV/AIDS Legal Centre Incorporated 
 
The Committee members of HIV/AIDS Legal Centre Incorporated present their Report together 
with the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2021 and the Independent Audit Report 
thereon.  
 
CCoommmmiitttteeee  mmeemmbbeerrss’’  ddeettaaiillss  aanndd  mmeeeettiinnggss    
The following persons were committee members of HIV/AIDS Legal Centre Incorporated during 
or since the end of the financial year. 
 
The number of meetings of committee members during the year and the number of meetings 
attended by each member is as follows:  
 

NNaammee  DDaattee  ooff  
AAppppooiinnttmmeenntt  

DDaattee  ooff  cceessssaattiioonn  CCoommmmiitttteeee  mmeeeettiinnggss  

   AA  BB  

M Bridgett 18 Sep 2018  6 5 

D Carter 10 Nov 2020  4 4 

A Cogle 12 Feb 2019  6 4 

G Gahl 15 Oct 2014  6 6 

D Schilling 2 Feb 2017  6 6 

A Stratigos 2 May 2017  6 6 
  
AA Number of meetings the Member was entitled to attend 

BB Number of meetings the Member attended  
  
PPrriinncciippaall  aaccttiivviittiieess  
 
The association’s principal activities during the year were the provision of legal services for 
HIV/AIDS related legal matters. There were no significant changes in the nature of the activities 
of the association during the year. 
 
SShhoorrtt  &&  lloonngg--tteerrmm  oobbjjeeccttiivveess  

• To provide free legal advice, assistance and representation (within the operational guidelines 
of HALC) to anyone with an HIV related legal problem. 

• To operate as a not for profit community legal centre specialising in HIV related legal matters 
and, where resources allow, to carry out community education and law reform projects in areas 
relating to HIV/AIDS. 

• To provide legal training, education and experience to employees and volunteers. 
• To build on the skills and expertise developed by the Association in relation to HIV related 

legal problems, to extend the operations of the Association into other specific areas such as 
Hepatitis C related legal problems. 

• To work with other appropriate organisations to achieve the above objectives. 
 

SSttrraatteeggiieess  ttoo  aacchhiieevvee  oobbjjeeccttiivveess  

• Provide up-to-date legal information to target groups. 
• Provide legal services in a flexible manner. 
• Establish and maintain efficient management, administrative and financial reporting systems 

and comply with accountability requirements.    
• Provide community legal education activities to educate and inform both affected   

communities and interested professionals. 
• Conduct law reform activities. 
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Committee Members’ Report 
HIV/AIDS Legal Centre Incorporated 

SSttrraatteeggiieess  ttoo  aacchhiieevvee  oobbjjeeccttiivveess  continued  

• Provide appropriate ongoing staff training, education and experience in a specialist
community legal centre context.

• Provide an appropriate environment for volunteers to gain experience in a specialist
community legal centre.

• Provide up-to-date legal information, advice and assistance to PLHCV.
• Provide advice and assistance to more people with HIV/AIDS related legal issues.

CCoonnttrriibbuuttiioonn  iinn  wwiinnddiinngg  uupp  

The association is incorporated under the Associations Incorporation Act 2009. If the association 
is wound up, the constitution states that each member is required to contribute a maximum of 
any unpaid amount in respect of membership fees of the Association which is determined by its 
Committee.   

AAuuddiittoorr’’ss  iinnddeeppeennddeennccee  ddeeccllaarraattiioonn  
A copy of the Auditor’s Independence Declaration as required under s.60-40 of the Australian 
Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 is included on page 6 of this financial report 
and forms part of the Committee Members’ Report.  

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Committee Members. 

GGRREEGGOORRYY  GGAAHHLL  
President 

Sydney 
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Auditor’s 
Independence 

Declaration 

TToo  tthhee  CCoommmmiitttteeee  MMeemmbbeerrss  ooff  HHIIVV//AAIIDDSS  LLeeggaall  CCeennttrree  IInnccoorrppoorraatteedd::  

In accordance with the requirements of section 60-40 of the Australian Charities and Not-for-
profits Commission Act 2012, as lead auditor for the audit of HIV/AIDS Legal Centre Incorporated 
for the year ended 30 June 2021, I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, there 
have been:  

(a) No contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Australian Charities and
Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 in relation to the audit; and

(b) No contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

SSTTEEVVEENN  JJ  MMIILLLLEERR  &&  CCOO  
Chartered Accountants 

SS  JJ  MMIILLLLEERR  
Registered Company 
Auditor No 4286 

Sydney 

Dated: 2 November 2021
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Statement of Surplus or Deficit and 
Other Comprehensive Income    
For the year ended 30 June 2021 
HIV/AIDS Legal Centre Incorporated 
 

 NNoottee  22002211  22002200  
   $$  $$  

Revenue 4 788,952 592,323 
Other income 4 3,147 570 
Administration expenses  (110,919) (105,555) 
Depreciation expense 8 (4,160) (3,669) 
Employee benefits expense 9 (602,833) (426,365) 
Office overheads  (8,821) (9,397) 

SSuurrpplluuss  bbeeffoorree  iinnccoommee  ttaaxx   6655,,336666  4477,,990077  
Income tax expense 3.8 - - 

SSuurrpplluuss  ffoorr  tthhee  yyeeaarr   6655,,336666  4477,,990077  

Other comprehensive income for the year, net 
of income tax 

  
 

- 
 

- 

TToottaall  ccoommpprreehheennssiivvee  iinnccoommee  ffoorr  tthhee  yyeeaarr    6655,,336666  4477,,990077  
 
 
This statement should be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements. 
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Statement of Financial Position 
As at 30 June 2021 
HIV/AIDS Legal Centre Incorporated 
 

 NNoottee  22002211  22002200  
   $$  $$  

AAsssseettss      
CCuurrrreenntt      
Cash and cash equivalents 55  530,879 465,915 
Trade and other receivables 66  12,870 29,914 
Other assets 77  5,784 898 
Current assets   549,533 496,727 

NNoonn--ccuurrrreenntt      
Plant and equipment 88  13,642 13,749 

Non-current assets   13,642 13,749 

TToottaall  aasssseettss    556633,,117755  551100,,447766  

LLiiaabbiilliittiieess        
CCuurrrreenntt      
Trade and other payables 1100  52,408 47,756 
Provisions 1111  97,957 60,728 
Other liabilities 1122  58,461 122,583 
Current liabilities   208,826 231,067 
NNoonn--CCuurrrreenntt     
Provisions 1111  9,574 - 
Non-Current liabilities   9,574 - 
TToottaall  lliiaabbiilliittiieess   221188,,440000  223311,,006677  

NNeett  aasssseettss    334444,,777755  227799,,440099  

EEqquuiittyy          
General funds - unrestricted     344,775 279,409 

TToottaall  eeqquuiittyy   334444,,777755  227799,,440099  

 
 
This statement should be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements.   
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Statement of Changes in Equity 
For the year ended 30 June 2021 
HIV/AIDS Legal Centre Incorporated 

  

 GGeenneerraall  ffuunnddss  TToottaall  eeqquuiittyy  

 $$  $$  

Balance at 1 July 2019 231,502 231,502 

Surplus for the year 47,907 47,907 
Other comprehensive income - - 

Total comprehensive income for the year 47,907 47,907 

BBaallaannccee  aatt  3300  JJuunnee  22002200  227799,,440099  227799,,440099  

Balance at 1 July 2020 279,409 279,409 

Surplus for the year 65,366 65,366 
Other comprehensive income - - 

Total comprehensive income for the year 65,366 65,366 

BBaallaannccee  aatt  3300  JJuunnee  22002211  334444,,777755  334444,,777755  

 
 
This statement should be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements. 
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Statement of Cash Flows 
For the year ended 30 June 2021 
HIV/AIDS Legal Centre Incorporated 
 

 NNoottee  22002211  22002200  
   $$  $$  

OOppeerraattiinngg  aaccttiivviittiieess      
Receipts from:     
• Interest income              193  570 

• Government grants       615,720  481,137 

• Government support for COVID        82,996  21,636 

• Donations and fundraising          16,174  11,558 

• Clients         93,214  42,963 
Payments to clients, suppliers and employees:      

• Suppliers & employees     (739,280)  (552,785) 

NNeett  ccaasshh  pprroovviiddeedd  bbyy  ooppeerraattiinngg  aaccttiivviittiieess              6699,,001177    55,,007799  
IInnvveessttiinngg  aaccttiivviittiieess       
Purchases of plant and equipment 88       (4,053)  (5,588) 
NNeett  ccaasshh  uusseedd  iinn  iinnvveessttiinngg  aaccttiivviittiieess             ((44,,005533))    ((55,,558888))  
Net change in cash and cash equivalents        64,964  (509) 
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year       465,915  466,424 

CCaasshh  aanndd  ccaasshh  eeqquuiivvaalleennttss,,  eenndd  ooff  yyeeaarr 55      553300,,887799    446655,,991155  

 
 
This statement should be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the year ended 30 June 2021 
HIV/AIDS Legal Centre Incorporated 

11 GGeenneerraall  iinnffoorrmmaattiioonn  aanndd  ssttaatteemmeenntt  ooff  ccoommpplliiaannccee  

The financial report includes the financial statements and notes of HIV/AIDS Legal Centre 
Incorporated. 
 
These financial statements are general purpose financial statements that have been prepared in 
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements and the 
Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012.   
 
HIV/AIDS Legal Centre Incorporated is a not-for-profit entity for the purpose of preparing the 
financial statements. 
 
The financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2021 were approved and authorised for 
issuance by the Committee members. 

22 CChhaannggeess  iinn  aaccccoouunnttiinngg  ssttaannddaarrddss  

The association has adopted all of the new or amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations 
issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board ('AASB') that are mandatory for the current 
reporting period. 
 
Any new or amended Accounting Standards or Interpretations that are not yet mandatory have 
not been early adopted. 

33 SSuummmmaarryy  ooff  aaccccoouunnttiinngg  ppoolliicciieess  

33..11 OOvveerraallll  ccoonnssiiddeerraattiioonnss  
The significant accounting policies that have been used in the preparation of these financial 
statements are summarised below. 
 
The financial statements have been prepared using the measurement bases specified by 
Australian Accounting Standards for each type of asset, liability, income and expense.  The 
measurement bases are more fully described in the accounting policies below. 
 
33..22 RReevveennuuee  
Revenue comprises revenue from the delivery of services, government grants, fundraising 
activities and client contributions. Revenue from services and donations is shown in Note 4.  
 
The association recognises revenue under AASB 1058 or AASB 15 when appropriate. In cases 
where there is an ‘enforceable’ contract with a customer with ‘sufficiently specific’ performance 
obligations, the transaction is accounted for under AASB 15 where income is recognised when (or 
as) the performance obligations are satisfied (i.e. when it transfers control of a product or service 
to a customer). Revenue is measured based on the consideration to which the association expects 
to be entitled in a contract with a customer and excludes amounts collected on behalf of third 
parties. In other cases, AASB 1058 applies when a NFP entity enters into transactions where the 
consideration to acquire an asset is significantly less than the fair value of the asset principally to 
enable the entity to further its objectives and the excess of the asset recognised (at fair value) 
over any ‘related amounts’ is recognised as income immediately. The association recognises 
revenue from the following major sources: 
 
GGoovveerrnnmmeenntt  ggrraannttss    
A number of the association’s programs are supported by grants received from the Federal, State 
and Local governments. Grant Income is recognised in accordance with AASB 15 if the contract 
has sufficiently specific performance obligations.  
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Notes to the Financial Statements 

For the year ended 30 June 2021 
HIV/AIDS Legal Centre Incorporated 

33 SSuummmmaarryy  ooff  aaccccoouunnttiinngg  ppoolliicciieess  continued          

33..22            RReevveennuuee continued 
Grant income from contracts that do not contain sufficiently specific performance obligations is 
recognised under AASB 1058 as income when the association obtains control over the funds. 
 
CClliieenntt  ddiissbbuurrsseemmeennttss  
Fees charged for care or services provided to clients are recognised when the service is provided. 
 
DDoonnaattiioonnss    
Donations collected, including cash and goods for resale, are recognised as revenue when the 
association gains control, economic benefits are probable and the amount of the donation can be 
measured reliably. 
 
IInntteerreesstt  iinnccoommee  
Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective interest rate method. 
Dividend income are recognised at the time the right to receive payment is established. 
 
33..33 iiiiiiiiOOppeerraattiinngg  eexxppeennsseess  
Operating expenses are recognised in surplus or deficit upon utilisation of the service or at the 
date of their origin.   
 
33..44 IIiiii  iiIInnttaannggiibbllee  aasssseettss  
Recognition of other intangible assets: 
 
AAccqquuiirreedd  iinnttaannggiibbllee  aasssseettss  
Acquired computer software licences are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire 
and install the specific software. 
 
SSuubbsseeqquueenntt  mmeeaassuurreemmeenntt  
All intangible assets are accounted for using the cost model whereby capitalised costs are 
amortised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives, as these assets are considered 
finite. Residual values and useful lives are reviewed at each reporting date. In addition, they are 
subject to impairment testing.  
 
Amortisation is included within depreciation and amortisation. 
 
Subsequent expenditures on the maintenance of computer software and brand names are 
expensed as incurred. 
 
When an intangible asset is disposed of, the gain or loss on disposal is determined as the 
difference between the proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, and is recognised in 
surplus or deficit within other income or other expenses. 
 
33..55            PPllaanntt  &&  eeqquuiippmmeenntt    
Each class of plant and equipment is carried at cost or fair value less, where applicable, any 
accumulated depreciation and less any impairment losses recognised after the date of revaluation. 
 
Items of plant and equipment are depreciated over their useful lives to the association from the 
time the asset is held ready for use. Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the 
expected useful economic lives of the assets as follows: 
 
Computer equipment          3 - 5 years  
Furniture and fittings    6 - 10 years 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 

For the year ended 30 June 2021 
HIV/AIDS Legal Centre Incorporated 

33 SSuummmmaarryy  ooff  aaccccoouunnttiinngg  ppoolliicciieess  continued 

33..55          PPllaanntt  &&  eeqquuiippmmeenntt  continued 
IImmppaaiirrmmeenntt  
The carrying values of plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment at each reporting date, 
with recoverable amounts being estimated when events or changes in circumstances indicate that 
the carrying values may be impaired. 
 
The recoverable amount of plant and equipment is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and 
value in use. Depreciated replacement cost is used to determine value in use. Depreciated 
replacement cost is the current replacement cost of an item of plant and equipment less, where 
applicable, accumulated depreciation to date, calculated on the basis of such cost. 
 
Impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset exceeds the estimated recoverable amount. 
The asset is then written down to its recoverable amount. 
 
Impairment losses are recognised in the statement of surplus or deficit and other comprehensive 
income. 
 
DDee--rreeccooggnniittiioonn  &&  ddiissppoossaall  
An item of plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when the item is no longer used 
in the operations of the association. Any gain or loss arising from the de-recognition is recognised 
in the statement of surplus or deficit and other comprehensive income. 
 
33..66       LLeeaasseess  
OOppeerraattiinngg  lleeaasseess    
The association does not enter into any contracts that can be classified as a lease as defined in 
AASB 16. Payments for rent are paid on a month-to-month basis and expenses are recognised as 
they are incurred.  

 
33..77       FFiinnaanncciiaall  iinnssttrruummeennttss  
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the association becomes a party to 
the contractual provisions of the financial instrument and are measured initially at fair value 
adjusted by transactions costs, except for those carried at fair value through surplus or deficit, 
which are measured initially at fair value. Subsequent measurement of financial assets and financial 
liabilities are described below.  
 
Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial 
asset expire, or when the financial asset and all substantial risks and rewards are transferred. A 
financial liability is derecognised when it is extinguished, discharged, cancelled or expires.  
  
CCllaassssiiffiiccaattiioonn  aanndd  ssuubbsseeqquueenntt  mmeeaassuurreemmeenntt  ooff  ffiinnaanncciiaall  aasssseettss    
Except for those trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component and are 
measured at the transaction price, all financial assets are initially measured at fair value adjusted 
for transaction costs (where applicable).  
 
For the purpose of subsequent measurement, financial assets other than those designated and 
effective as hedging instruments are classified into the following categories upon initial 
recognition:  
 
• amortised cost  
• fair value through profit or loss (FVPL)  
• equity instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI)  
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Notes to the Financial Statements 

For the year ended 30 June 2021 
HIV/AIDS Legal Centre Incorporated 

33 SSuummmmaarryy  ooff  aaccccoouunnttiinngg  ppoolliicciieess  continued 

33..77          FFiinnaanncciiaall  iinnssttrruummeennttss  continued 
All income and expenses relating to financial assets that are recognised in the Statement of 
Surplus or Deficit and Other Comprehensive Income are presented within finance costs, finance 
income or other financial items, except for impairment of trade receivables which is presented 
within other expenses.  
 
Classifications are determined by both:  
 
• The entity’s business model for managing the financial asset  
• The contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets  
 
All income and expenses relating to financial assets that are recognised in surplus or deficit are 
presented within finance costs, finance income or other financial items, except for impairment of 
trade receivables, which is presented within other expenses.  
  
SSuubbsseeqquueenntt  mmeeaassuurreemmeenntt  ooff  ffiinnaanncciiaall  aasssseettss    
FFiinnaanncciiaall  aasssseettss  aatt  aammoorrttiisseedd  ccoosstt    
Financial assets are measured at amortised cost if the assets meet the following conditions (and 
are not designated as FVPL):  
 
• they are held within a business model whose objective is to hold the financial assets and collect 

its contractual cash flows  
• the contractual terms of the financial assets give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of 

principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding  
 
After initial recognition, these are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 
Discounting is omitted where the effect of discounting is immaterial. The association’s cash and 
cash equivalents, trade and most other receivables fall into this category of financial instruments 
as well as long-term deposit that were previously classified as held-to-maturity under AASB 139.  
  
FFiinnaanncciiaall  aasssseettss  aatt  ffaaiirr  vvaalluuee  tthhrroouugghh  pprrooffiitt  oorr  lloossss  ((FFVVPPLL))    
Financial assets that are held within a different business model other than ‘hold to collect’ or ‘hold 
to collect and sell’ are categorised at fair value through surplus and deficit. Further, irrespective 
of business model financial assets whose contractual cash flows are not solely payments of 
principal and interest are accounted for at FVPL. All derivative financial instruments fall into this 
category, except for those designated and effective as hedging instruments, for which the hedge 
accounting requirements apply (see below).  
  
EEqquuiittyy  iinnssttrruummeennttss  aatt  ffaaiirr  vvaalluuee  tthhrroouugghh  ootthheerr  ccoommpprreehheennssiivvee  iinnccoommee  ((EEqquuiittyy  FFVVOOCCII))    
Investments in equity instruments that are not held for trading are eligible for an irrevocable 
election at inception to be measured at FVOCI. Under Equity FVOCI, subsequent movements in 
fair value are recognised in other comprehensive income and are never reclassified to surplus or 
deficit. Dividend from these investments continue to be recorded as other income within the 
surplus or deficit unless the dividend clearly represents return of capital.  
  
TTrraaddee  aanndd  ootthheerr  rreecceeiivvaabblleess   
The association makes use of a simplified approach in accounting for trade and other receivables 
and records the loss allowance at the amount equal to the expected lifetime credit losses. In using 
this practical expedient, the association uses its historical experience, external indicators and 
forward-looking information to calculate the expected credit losses using a provision matrix.  
The association assess impairment of trade receivables on a collective basis as they possess credit 
risk characteristics based on the days past due.  
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Notes to the Financial Statements 

For the year ended 30 June 2021 
HIV/AIDS Legal Centre Incorporated 

33 SSuummmmaarryy  ooff  aaccccoouunnttiinngg  ppoolliicciieess  continued 

33..77          FFiinnaanncciiaall  iinnssttrruummeennttss  continued 
CCllaassssiiffiiccaattiioonn  aanndd  mmeeaassuurreemmeenntt  ooff  ffiinnaanncciiaall  lliiaabbiilliittiieess    
As the accounting for financial liabilities remains largely unchanged from AASB 139, the 
association’s financial liabilities were not impacted by the adoption of AASB 9. However, for 
completeness, the accounting policy is disclosed below. The association’s financial liabilities 
include borrowings and trade and other payables. Financial liabilities are initially measured at fair 
value, and, where applicable, adjusted for transaction costs unless the association designated a 
financial liability at fair value through surplus or deficit.  
 
Subsequently, financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method except for derivatives and financial liabilities designated at FVPL, which are carried 
subsequently at fair value with gains or losses recognised in surplus or deficit (other than 
derivative financial instruments that are designated and effective as hedging instruments).  
All interest-related charges and, if applicable, changes in an instrument’s fair value that are 
reported in surplus or deficit are included within finance costs or finance income.  
 
33..88 iiiiiiTTaaxxaattiioonn  
IInnccoommee  TTaaxx  
The association is a public benevolent institution for the purposes of Australian taxation legislation 
and is therefore exempt from income tax. This exemption has been confirmed by the Australian 
Taxation Office. The association holds deductible gift recipient status.  
 
GGooooddss  aanndd  sseerrvviicceess  ttaaxx  ((GGSSTT))  
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the 
amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office. In these 
circumstances, the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of 
an item of the expense. Receivables and payables in the statement of financial position are shown 
inclusive of GST. 
 
Receivables and payables are recognised inclusive of GST. The net amount of GST recoverable 
from or payable to the ATO is included as part of receivables or payables. 
 
Cash flows are included in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis. The GST component of 
cash flows arising from investing and financing activities which is recoverable from or payable to 
the ATO is classified as operating cash flows. 
 
33..99          CCaasshh  aanndd  ccaasshh  eeqquuiivvaalleennttss   
Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position comprise cash at bank and in 
hand and short-term deposits with an original maturity of three months or less. For the purposes 
of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents as defined above, net of any outstanding 
bank overdrafts. 
 
33..1100 EEmmppllooyyeeee  bbeenneeffiittss  
SShhoorrtt--tteerrmm  eemmppllooyyeeee  bbeenneeffiittss  
Short-term employee benefits are benefits, other than termination benefits, that are expected to 
be settled wholly within twelve (12) months after the end of the period in which the employees 
render the related service.  Examples of such benefits include wages and salaries, non-monetary 
benefits and accumulating sick leave. Short-term employee benefits are measured at the 
undiscounted amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 

For the year ended 30 June 2021 
HIV/AIDS Legal Centre Incorporated 

33 SSuummmmaarryy  ooff  aaccccoouunnttiinngg  ppoolliicciieess  continued 

33..1100          EEmmppllooyyeeee  bbeenneeffiittss continued 
OOtthheerr  lloonngg--tteerrmm  eemmppllooyyeeee  bbeenneeffiittss  
The association’s liabilities for long service leave are included in other long-term benefits as they 
are not expected to be settled wholly within twelve (12) months after the end of the period in 
which the employees render the related service. They are measured at the present value of the 
expected future payments to be made to employees. The expected future payments incorporate 
anticipated future wage and salary levels, experience of employee departures and periods of 
service, and are discounted at rates determined by reference to market yields at the end of the 
reporting period on high quality corporate bonds that have maturity dates that approximate the 
timing of the estimated future cash outflows. Any re-measurements arising from experience 
adjustments and changes in assumptions are recognised in surplus or deficit in the periods in 
which the changes occur. 
 
The association presents employee benefit obligations as current liabilities in the statement of 
financial position if the association does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement for at 
least twelve (12) months after the reporting period, irrespective of when the actual settlement is 
expected to take place. 
 
PPoosstt--eemmppllooyymmeenntt  bbeenneeffiittss  ppllaannss  
The association provides post-employment benefits through defined contribution plans. 
 
DDeeffiinneedd  ccoonnttrriibbuuttiioonn  ppllaannss  
The association pays fixed contributions into independent entities in relation to several state plans 
and insurance for individual employees. The association has no legal or constructive obligations 
to pay contributions in addition to its fixed contributions, which are recognised as an expense in 
the period that relevant employee services are received. 
 
33..1111         PPrroovviissiioonnss,,  ccoonnttiinnggeenntt  lliiaabbiilliittiieess  aanndd  ccoonnttiinnggeenntt  aasssseettss  
Provisions are measured at the estimated expenditure required to settle the present obligation, 
based on the most reliable evidence available at the reporting date, including the risks and 
uncertainties associated with the present obligation.  Provisions are discounted to their present 
values, where the time value of money is material. No liability is recognised if an outflow of 
economic resources as a result of present obligation is not probable.  Such situations are disclosed 
as contingent liabilities, unless the outflow of resources is remote in which case no liability is 
recognised. 
 
33..1122      EEccoonnoommiicc  ddeeppeennddeennccee     
The committee members present the financial statements which report a surplus of $65,366 
(2020: $47,907) for the year ended 30 June 2021 and net assets of $344,775 (2020: $279,409) 
as at 30 June 2021. The association’s ability to continue as a going concern in the ensuing financial 
year and subsequent financial years is dependent upon the association’s ability to continuously 
source grant funding, donations and fundraising and services income. 
 
33..1133  SSiiggnniiffiiccaanntt  mmaannaaggeemmeenntt  jjuuddggeemmeenntt  iinn  aappppllyyiinngg  aaccccoouunnttiinngg  ppoolliicciieess  
When preparing the financial statements, management undertakes a number of judgements, 
estimates and assumptions about the recognition and measurement of assets, liabilities, income 
and expenses. 
 
EEssttiimmaattiioonn  uunncceerrttaaiinnttyy    
Information about estimates and assumptions that have the most significant effect on recognition 
and measurement of assets, liabilities, income and expenses is provided below.  Actual results may 
be substantially different. 
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33 SSuummmmaarryy  ooff  aaccccoouunnttiinngg  ppoolliicciieess  continued 

33..1133  SSiiggnniiffiiccaanntt  mmaannaaggeemmeenntt  jjuuddggeemmeenntt  iinn  aappppllyyiinngg  aaccccoouunnttiinngg  ppoolliicciieess  continued 
IImmppaaiirrmmeenntt    
In assessing impairment, management estimates the recoverable amount of each asset or cash-
generating unit based on expected future cash flows and uses an interest rate to discount them.  
Estimation uncertainty relates to assumptions about future operating results and the 
determination of a suitable discount rate.  
 
UUsseeffuull  lliivveess  ooff  ddeepprreecciiaabbllee  aasssseettss  
Management reviews its estimate of the useful lives of depreciable assets at each reporting date, 
based on the expected utility of the assets. Uncertainties in these estimates relate to technical 
obsolescence that may change the utility of certain assets. 
 
LLoonngg  sseerrvviiccee  lleeaavvee    
The liability for long service leave is recognised and measured at the present value of the 
estimated cash flows to be made in respect of all employees at the reporting date.  In determining 
the present value of the liability, estimates of attrition rates and pay increases through promotion 
and inflation have been taken into account. 
 
PPeerrffoorrmmaannccee  oobblliiggaattiioonnss  uunnddeerr  AAAASSBB  1155  
To identify a performance obligation under AASB 15, the promise must be sufficiently specific to 
be able to determine when the obligation is satisfied. Management exercises judgement to 
determine whether the promise is sufficiently specific by taking into account any conditions 
specified in the arrangement, explicit or implicit, regarding the promised goods or services. In 
making this assessment, management includes the nature/ type, cost/ value, quantity and the 
period of transfer related to the goods or services promised. 
 
CCoorroonnaavviirruuss  ((CCOOVVIIDD--1199))  ppaannddeemmiicc  
Judgement has been exercised in considering the impacts that the Coronavirus (COVID-19) 
pandemic has had, or may have, on the association based on known information. This 
consideration extends to the nature of the products and services offered, customers, supply chain, 
staffing and geographic regions in which the association operates. Other than as addressed in 
specific notes, there does not currently appear to be either any significant impact upon the 
financial statements or any significant uncertainties with respect to events or conditions which 
may impact the association unfavourably as at the reporting date or subsequently as a result of 
the Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic. 
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44 RReevveennuuee  

The Association’s revenue may be analysed as follows for each major product and service 
category: 

 NNoottee  22002211  22002200  

  $$  $$  

RReevveennuuee     
Donations and fundraising  24,293 14,013 
Disbursements recovered  20,973 29,787 
Grant income 4.1 632,185 475,772 
Government support for COVID-19  70,737 33,895 
Legal fee and service income  40,764 38,856 
    788,952 592,323 
OOtthheerr  iinnccoommee     
Interest income  193 570 
Sundry income  2,954 - 
    3,147 570 

TToottaall  rreevveennuuee  aanndd  ootthheerr  iinnccoommee   779922,,009999  559922,,889933  

 

44..11        GGoovveerrnnmmeenntt  ggrraannttss    

 NNoottee  22002211  22002200  

   $$  $$  

Unexpended grants – 1 July* 44..22  122,583 123,665 

Grants received in advance – 1 July 44..33  - 37,293 
Grants received during the year 44..44  559,745 437,397 

   682,328 598,355 

Less:     

Grants received in advance – 30 June 44..55  (20,000) - 

Unexpended grants – 30 June  44..66  (30,143) (64,519) 
Grants repayable – 30 June* 44..77  - (58,064) 
   (50,143) (122,583) 

Net grant revenue   663322,,118855  447755,,777722  

* Grants repayable at 30 June 2020 were reclassfied as unexpended grants in accordance with the terms 
and conditions of the grant agreement.  

 

44..22  UUnneexxppeennddeedd  ggrraannttss  ––  11  JJuullyy    

 NNoottee  22002211  22002200  

   $$  $$  

Legal Aid NSW – State and Public Purpose Fund  86,935 62,218 
Legal Aid NSW – State (One-off funding)  - 41,398 
Attorney General’s Dept – Commonwealth  35,648 20,049 

    112222,,558833  112233,,666655  
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44 RReevveennuuee  continued  

44..33    GGrraannttss  rreecceeiivveedd  iinn  aaddvvaannccee  ––  11  JJuullyy      

 NNoottee  22002211  22002200  

   $$  $$  

Legal Aid NSW – State (One-off funding)  - 37,293 

    --  3377,,229933  

  

44..44  GGrraannttss  rreecceeiivveedd  dduurriinngg  tthhee  yyeeaarr  

 NNoottee  22002211  22002200  

   $$  $$  

Legal Aid NSW – State and Public Purpose Fund  326,704 325,364 
Attorney General’s Dept – Commonwealth  107,641 104,765 
Legal Aid NSW – Other   - 7,268 
Legal Aid NSW – COVID-19 Legal Assistance  67,400 - 
Legal Aid NSW – COVID-19 ICT Funding  18,000 - 
Legal Aid NSW – Open Sector Transformation   20,000 - 
Legal Aid NSW – Direct Sector Transformation  20,000 - 

    555599,,774455  443377,,339977 

  

44..55    GGrraannttss  rreecceeiivveedd  iinn  aaddvvaannccee  ––  3300  JJuunnee      

 NNoottee  22002211  22002200  

   $$  $$  

Legal Aid NSW – Open Sector Transformation   20,000 - 

  1122  2200,,000000  - 

  

44..66    UUnneexxppeennddeedd  ggrraannttss  ––  3300  JJuunnee  

 NNoottee  22002211  22002200  

   $$  $$  

Legal Aid NSW – State and Public Purpose Fund  - 43,013 
Attorney General’s Dept – Commonwealth  - 21,506 
Legal Aid NSW – Direct Sector Transformation  10,000 - 
Legal Aid NSW – COVID-19 Legal Assistance  20,143 - 

  1122  3300,,114433  6644,,551199  

  

44..77    GGrraannttss  rreeppaayyaabbllee  ––  3300  JJuunnee  

 NNoottee  22002211  22002200  

   $$  $$  

Legal Aid NSW – State and Public Purpose Fund  - 43,922 
Attorney General’s Dept – Commonwealth  - 14,142 

  1122  --  5588,,006644  
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55 CCaasshh  aanndd  ccaasshh  eeqquuiivvaalleennttss  

Cash and cash equivalents consist of the following: 

 NNoottee  22002211  22002200  

   $$  $$  

Cash on hand and at bank   530,879 465,915 

CCaasshh  aanndd  ccaasshh  eeqquuiivvaalleennttss    553300,,887799  446655,,991155  

66 TTrraaddee  aanndd  ootthheerr  rreecceeiivvaabblleess    

Trade and other receivables consist of the following: 

 NNoottee  22002211  22002200  

   $$  $$  

Trade receivables   2,296 15,200 
Accrued income   - 12,259 
Fundraising income receivable   10,574 2,455 

   1122,,887700  2299,,991144  

77 OOtthheerr  aasssseettss  

Other assets consist of the following: 

 NNoottee  22002211  22002200  

   $$  $$  

Prepayments  5,784 898 

  55,,778844  889988  

  

88 PPllaanntt  aanndd  eeqquuiippmmeenntt  

Details of the association’s plant and equipment and their carrying amount are as follows: 

 
 
 

 
CCoommppuutteerr  

eeqquuiippmmeenntt  
OOffffiiccee  ffuurrnniittuurree  
aanndd  eeqquuiippmmeenntt  

  
                    TToottaall  

 $$  $$                      $$  

22002211     
Balance 1 July 2020 33,744 6,801 40,545 
Additions 3,091 962 4,053 
Balance 30 June 2021 36,835 7,763 44,598 

DDeepprreecciiaattiioonn  aanndd  iimmppaaiirrmmeenntt     
Balance 1 July 2020 (22,278) (4,518) (26,796) 
Depreciation (3,669) (491) (4,160) 
Balance 30 June 2021 (25,947) (5,009) (30,956) 

CCaarrrryyiinngg  aammoouunntt  3300  JJuunnee  22002211  1100,,888888  22,,775544  1133,,664422  
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88 PPllaanntt  aanndd  eeqquuiippmmeenntt  continued  

Details of the association’s plant and equipment and their carrying amount are as follows: 

99 EEmmppllooyyeeee  bbeenneeffiittss  eexxppeennssee  

Employee benefits expenditure may be analysed as follows: 

 NNoottee  22002211  22002200  

   $$  $$  

Wages and salaries   502,621 375,760 
Superannuation   50,344 37,283 
Movements in employee benefits provisions   46,803 12,849 
Staff training and development   3,065 408 
Staff recruitment   - 65 

TToottaall  eemmppllooyyeeee  bbeenneeffiittss  eexxppeennssee    660022,,883333  442266,,336655  

1100 TTrraaddee  aanndd  ootthheerr  ppaayyaabblleess  

Trade and other payables recognised consist of the following: 

 NNoottee  22002211  22002200  

   $$  $$  

CCuurrrreenntt::     
Accrued charges  25,899 34,743 
ATO liabilities  26,739 5,931 
Trade creditors  (230) 7,082 

   5522,,440088  4477,,775566  

  

 

 

  CCoommppuutteerr  
eeqquuiippmmeenntt 

OOffffiiccee  ffuurrnniittuurree  
aanndd  eeqquuiippmmeenntt 

  
                    TToottaall 

  $$ $$                     $$ 

22002200     
Balance 1 July 2019 29,262 5,695 34,957 
Additions 4,482 1,106 5,588 
Balance 30 June 2020 33,744 6,801 40,545 

DDeepprreecciiaattiioonn  aanndd  iimmppaaiirrmmeenntt     
Balance 1 July 2019 (18,942) (4,185) (23,127) 
Depreciation (3,336) (333) (3,669) 
Balance 30 June 2020 (22,278) (4,518) (26,796) 

CCaarrrryyiinngg  aammoouunntt  3300  JJuunnee  22002200  1111,,446666  22,,228833  1133,,774499  
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1111 PPrroovviissiioonnss  

Provisions for employee benefits are as follows: 

 NNoottee  22002211  22002200  

   $$  $$  

CCuurrrreenntt::     
Annual leave  74,378 41,792 
Long service leave  23,579 18,936 

  9977,,995577  6600,,772288  

NNoonn--CCuurrrreenntt::       
Long service leave  9,574 - 

  99,,557744  - 

1122 OOtthheerr  lliiaabbiilliittiieess  

Other liabilities recognised consist of the following: 

 NNoottee  22002211  22002200  

   $$  $$  

CCuurrrreenntt::     
Income received in advance  8,318 - 
Grants received in advance 4.5 20,000 - 
Unexpended grants 4.6 30,143 64,519 
Grants repayable 4.7 - 58,064 

  5588,,446611  112222,,558833 

1133 RReellaatteedd  ppaarrttyy  ttrraannssaaccttiioonnss    

The association’s related parties include the Executive Members of HIV/AIDS Legal Centre 
Incorporated’s Committee Members. The Members did not receive any remuneration during the 
2021 financial year. 
 
1133..11  TTrraannssaaccttiioonnss  wwiitthh  kkeeyy  mmaannaaggeemmeenntt  ppeerrssoonnnneell  
Key management of the association are the Executive Members of HIV/AIDS Legal Centre 
Incorporated’s Committee. Key management personnel remuneration includes the following 
expenses: 

 22002211  22002200  

 $$  $$  

Total key management personnel remuneration 122,606 71,996 

1144 CCoonnttiinnggeenntt  lliiaabbiilliittiieess  

There are no contingent liabilities that have been incurred by the association in relation to 2021 or 
2020. 
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1155 PPoosstt--rreeppoorrttiinngg  ddaattee  eevveennttss  

The impact of the Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic is ongoing and while it has been financially 
positive for the association up to 30 June 2021, it is not practicable to estimate the potential 
impact, positive or negative, after the reporting date. The situation is rapidly developing and is 
dependent on measures imposed by the Australian Government and other countries, such as 
maintaining social distancing requirements, quarantine, travel restrictions and any economic 
stimulus that may be provided. 

No other matter or circumstance has arisen since 31 December 2020 that has significantly 
affected, or may significantly affect the association’s operations, the results of those operations, 
or the association’s state of affairs in future financial years. 

1166 MMeemmbbeerrss’’  gguuaarraanntteeee    

The association is incorporated under the Associations Incorporation Act 2009. If the association 
is wound up, the constitution states that each member is required to contribute a maximum of 
any unpaid amount in respect of membership fee of the association which is determined by its 
Committee. 

1177 AAddddiittiioonnaall  iinnffoorrmmaattiioonn  uunnddeerr  tthhee  CChhaarriittaabbllee  FFuunnddrraaiissiinngg  AAcctt  11999911  NNSSWW  

((aa)) DDeettaaiillss  ooff  ggrroossss  iinnccoommee  aanndd  eexxppeennddiittuurree  ffrroomm  ffuunnddrraaiissiinngg  aaccttiivviittiieess::    

 NNoottee  22002211  22002200  

   $$  $$  

Gross income from fundraising activities   24,293 14,013 
Less:    
Merchant and fundraising platform fees  (441) (133) 

SSuurrpplluuss  ffrroomm  ffuunnddrraaiissiinngg  aaccttiivviittiieess  2233,,885522  1133,,888800  

  
((bb))  SSttaatteemmeenntt  sshhoowwiinngg  hhooww  ffuunnddss  wweerree  aapppplliieedd  ffoorr  cchhaarriittaabbllee  ppuurrppoosseess  
The surplus from fundraising activities is utilised through retained earnings to achieve the 
organisation’s charitable objects. 

  
((cc)) FFuunnddrraaiissiinngg  aappppeeaallss  ccoonndduucctteedd  tthhrroouugghhoouutt  tthhee  yyeeaarr  
During the year ended 30 June 2021, the following charitable fundraising appeals were made to 
the public as follows: 
  
GGeenneerraall  ddoonnaattiioonnss  dduurriinngg  tthhee  yyeeaarr  eennddeedd  3300  JJuunnee  22002211..  
  
((dd)) AAsssseettss  aanndd  lliiaabbiilliittiieess  rreessuullttiinngg  ffrroomm  ffuunnddrraaiissiinngg::  

 NNoottee  22002211  22002200  

   $$  $$  

AAsssseettss    
Cash generated from fundraising activities  13,278 11,425 
Fundraising income receivable  10,574 2,455 

SSuurrpplluuss  ffrroomm  ffuunnddrraaiissiinngg  aaccttiivviittiieess  2233,,885522  1133,,888800 
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1188 FFiinnaanncciiaall  aasssseettss  aanndd  lliiaabbiilliittiieess  

The carrying amounts presented in the statement of financial position relate to the following 
categories of current assets and liabilities: 

 NNoottee  22002211  22002200  

   $$  $$  

Financial assets measured at amortised cost    
Cash and cash equivalents  5 530,879 465,915 
Trade and other receivables  6 12,870 29,914 

   543,749 495,829 

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost     
Trade and other payables 10 52,408 47,756 

  5522,,440088  4477,,775566 
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Committee Members’ Declaration 

In the opinion of the Committee members of HIV/AIDS Legal Centre Incorporated: 

(a) The financial statements and notes of HIV/AIDS Legal Centre Incorporated are in
accordance with the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012,
including;

(i) Giving a true and fair view of its financial position as at 30 June 2021 and of its
performance for the financial year ended on that date; and

(ii) Complying with Australian Accounting Standards and Reduced Disclosure
Requirements (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) and the Australian 
Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012;

(b) There are reasonable grounds to believe that HIV/AIDS Legal Centre Incorporated will be
able to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable (Refer Note 3.12).

DDeeccllaarraattiioonn  bbyy  DDiirreeccttoorrss  aass  rreeqquuiirreedd  bbyy  tthhee  CChhaarriittaabbllee  FFuunnddrraaiissiinngg  AAcctt  11999911  ((NNSSWW))  

a) the accounts for the year ended 30 June 2021, give a true and fair view of all income and
expenditure of HIV/AIDS Legal Centre with respect to fundraising appeals; and

b) the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2021 gives a true and fair view of the state
of affairs with respect to fundraising appeals; and

c) the provisions of the Charitable Fundraising Act 1991 (NSW) and the regulations under that
Act and the conditions attached to the authority have been complied with; and

d) the internal controls exercised by HIV/AIDS Legal Centre are appropriate and effective in
accounting for all income received and applied from any of its fundraising appeals.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the responsible entities. 

GGRREEGGOORRYY  GGAAHHLL  
President 

Sydney  

Date     /     / 
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Independent 
Auditor’s Report 

To the members of 
HIV/AIDS Legal Centre Incorporated 

RReeppoorrtt  oonn  tthhee  AAuuddiitt  ooff  tthhee  FFiinnaanncciiaall  RReeppoorrtt  

OOppiinniioonn  
I have audited the financial report of HIV/AIDS Legal Centre Incorporated, which comprises the 
statement of financial position as at 30 June 2021, the Statement of Surplus or Deficit and Other 
Comprehensive Income, Statement of Changes in Funds and Statement of Cash Flows for the year 
then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting 
policies, and the Committee members’ declaration.  

In my opinion, the financial report of HIV/AIDS Legal Centre Incorporated has been prepared in 
accordance with Division 60 of the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012, 
including:  

(a) Giving a true and fair view of the association’s financial position as at 30 June 2021 and of
its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended; and

(b) Complying with Australian Accounting Standards and Division 60 of the Australian Charities 
and Not-for-profits Commission Regulation 2013.

BBaassiiss  ffoorr  OOppiinniioonn  
I conducted my audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. My responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
Financial Report section of my report. I am independent of the registered entity in accordance 
with the auditor independence requirements of the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits 
Commission Act 2012 (ACNC Act) and the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional 
and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the Code) 
that are relevant to my audit of the financial report in Australia. I have also fulfilled my other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with the Code.  

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for my opinion.  

OOtthheerr  IInnffoorrmmaattiioonn  
Those charged with governance are responsible for the other information. The other information 
comprises the information included in the registered entity’s annual report for the year ended 30 
June 2021, but does not include the financial report and my auditor’s report.  

My opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly I do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion. 

In connection with my audit of the financial report, my responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with 
the financial report or my knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated.  

If, based on the work I have performed, I conclude that there is a material misstatement of this 
other information, I am required to report that fact. I have nothing to report in this regard.  
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Independent 
Auditor’s Report 

To the members of 
HIV/AIDS Legal Centre Incorporated 

CCoommmmiitttteeee  mmeemmbbeerrss’’  RReessppoonnssiibbiilliittyy  ffoorr  tthhee  FFiinnaanncciiaall  RReeppoorrtt      
The Committee members of the association are responsible for the preparation and fair 
presentation of the financial report in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the 
ACNC Act, and for such internal control as the Committee members determine is necessary to 
enable the preparation of the financial report that is free from material misstatement, whether due 
to fraud or error.  

In preparing the financial report, committee members are responsible for assessing the registered 
entity’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the committee members either 
intends to liquidate the registered entity or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but 
to do so.  

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the registered entity’s financial 
reporting process.  

AAuuddiittoorr’’ss  RReessppoonnssiibbiilliittyy  ffoorr  AAuuddiitt  ooff  tthhee  FFiinnaanncciiaall  RReeppoorrtt  
My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial report.  

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, I exercise professional 
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. I also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the registered entity’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by committee members.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the committee members’ use of the going concern basis
of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the registered entity’s
ability to continue as a going concern. If I conclude that a material uncertainty exists, I am
required to draw attention in my auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial
report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. My conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the registered entity to cease to continue as a going concern.



72  |  Annual Report 2019 – 2020

Page | 28 

Independent Auditor’s Report 
To the members of 

HIV/AIDS Legal Centre Incorporated 

AAuuddiittoorr’’ss  RReessppoonnssiibbiilliittyy  ffoorr  AAuuddiitt  ooff  tthhee  FFiinnaanncciiaall  RReeppoorrtt  continued  

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

I communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies 
in internal control that I identify during my audit. 

AAddddiittiioonnaall  SSccooppee  PPuurrssuuaanntt  ttoo  tthhee  CChhaarriittaabbllee  FFuunnddrraaiissiinngg  AAcctt  11999911  
In addition, my audit report has been prepared for the members of the association in accordance 
with Section 24(2) of the Charitable Fundraising Act 1991. 

Accordingly, I have performed additional work beyond that which is performed in my capacity as 
auditor. These additional procedures included obtaining an understanding of the internal control 
structure for fund raising appeal activities and examination, on a test basis, of evidence supporting 
compliance with the accounting and associated record keeping requirements for fundraising 
appeal activities pursuant to the Charitable Fundraising Act 1991 and Regulations. It should be 
noted that the accounting records and data relied upon for reporting on fundraising appeal 
activities are not continuously audited and do not necessarily reflect after the event accounting 
adjustments and the normal period end financial adjustments for such matters as accrual, 
prepayments, provisioning and valuation necessary for year-end financial statement preparation. 
The performance of my audit included a review of internal controls for the purpose of determining 
the appropriate audit procedures to enable an opinion to be expressed on the financial 
statements. The review is not a comprehensive review of all those systems or of the system taken 
as a whole and is not designed to uncover all weaknesses in those systems. The audit opinion 
expressed in this report pursuant to the Charitable Fundraising Act 1991 and Regulations has been 
formed on the above basis. 

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our audit opinion. 

OOppiinniioonn  ppuurrssuuaanntt  ttoo  tthhee  CChhaarriittaabbllee  FFuunnddrraaiissiinngg  AAcctt  11999911  

In my opinion: 

(a) The financial report of the association gives a true and fair view of the financial result of
fundraising appeal activities for the year ended 30 June 2021; and

(b) The financial report has been properly drawn up, and the associated records have been
properly kept for the year ended 30 June 2021, in accordance with the Charitable Fundraising
Act 1991 and its Regulations.

SSTTEEVVEENN  JJ  MMIILLLLEERR  &&  CCOO  
Chartered Accountants 

SS  JJ  MMIILLLLEERR  
Registered Company 
Auditor No 4286 
Sydney 

Dated: 3 November 2021        
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Additional Financial 
Information Disclaimer 

HIV/AIDS Legal Centre Incorporated 

The additional financial data presented on pages 30 and 31 are in accordance with the books and 
records of the association which have been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in my 
statutory audit of the association for the year ended 30 June 2021. It will be appreciated that my 
statutory audit did not cover all details of the additional financial information. Accordingly, I do 
not express an opinion on such financial information and no warranty of accuracy or reliability is 
given. 

In accordance with my firm's policy, I advise that neither the firm nor any member or employee of 
the firm undertakes responsibility arising in any way whatsoever to any person (other than the 
association) in respect of such information, including any errors or omissions therein, arising 
through negligence or otherwise however caused. 

SSTTEEVVEENN  JJ  MMIILLLLEERR  &&  CCOO  
Chartered Accountants 

SS  JJ  MMIILLLLEERR  
Registered Company 
Auditor No 4286 

Sydney 
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                  Detailed Statement of 
Surplus or Deficit 

For the year ended 30 June 2021 
HIV/AIDS Legal Centre Incorporated 

SSCCHHEEDDUULLEE  11  ––  GGEENNEERRAALL  OOPPEERRAATTIIOONNSS 

  NNoottee  22002211  22002200  
  SScchh  $$  $$  

IINNCCOOMMEE     
Disbursements recovered  20,973 29,787 
Donations received  24,293 14,013 
Government grants 4.1 632,185 475,772 
Government support for COVID-19  70,737 33,895 
Investment income:    
• Interest  193 570 

Legal fees and service income  40,764 38,856 
Publication fee   - 
Sundry income  2,954 - 
TOTAL INCOME  792,099 592,893 
LESS: EXPENDITURE Sch 2 (726,733) (544,986) 

NNEETT  SSUURRPPLLUUSS  6655,,336666  4477,,990077  

 
 
The above UNAUDITED detailed statement of surplus or deficit should be read in conjunction with the 
disclaimer. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



halc.org.au  |  75

Page | 31 
 
 

Detailed Statement of 
 Surplus or Deficit 

For the year ended 30 June 2021 
HIV/AIDS Legal Centre Incorporated 

SSCCHHEEDDUULLEE  22  ––  EEXXPPEENNDDIITTUURREE 

  NNoottee  22002211  22002200  
    $$  $$  

EEXXPPEENNSSEESS     
Annual leave provided/(written-back)  32,586 9,399 
Audit and accounting fees  38,048 32,026 
Bank charges  823 383 
Client disbursements   21,055 22,265 
Communications  11,357 13,558 
Depreciation of plant and equipment   4,160 3,669 
General expenses  6,336 1,888 
Insurance   3,768 3,423 
Library  expenses  571 387 
Long service leave provided   14,217 3,450 
Membership fees   - 20 
Office expenses  8,821 9,397 
Practicing certificate    3,872 3,041 
Rent    16,089 16,403 
Salaries   502,621 375,760 
Staff training  3,065 408 
Staff recruitment  - 65 
Superannuation  50,344 37,283 
Travel and accommodation  - 3,396 
Utilities  9,000 8,765 

TTOOTTAALL  EEXXPPEENNDDIITTUURREE  772266,,773333  554444,,998866  

 
 
The above UNAUDITED detailed statement of surplus or deficit should be read in conjunction 
with the disclaimer. 
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